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WHEMN WILLIAM BUCKLEY DEPARTED
Wiermam in the early 1970s, he left a friend
behind. And when the North Vietnamese
rook over the country in 1975, Buckley’s
friend was in rouble. So Buckley desper-
ately tried to convince their mumal employ-
er. the Central Intelligence Agency, to put
together a rescue mission. His pleas fell on
deaf ears. In the end, Buckley’s friend was
brutally tortured and killed. Buckley said o
a friend, “Don’'t ever let that happen to me.”

Ten years later, it did.

Buckley was the man we left behind in
the Middle East to be tortured and killed
by Islamic extremists. Some say his kid-
napping did much to provoke President
Reagan into his foolish arms-for-hostages
dealings with Iran.

we asked Mark Perry., a writer ~with
extensive contacts in the intelligence and
defense worlds, to find out who Buckley
was and why his life ended in such an
awful way. The story he came back with
is rthe fascinating, bitter biography of a
real-life American spy. It's also a history
of the cia and its
an instamtion.

Buckley was one of the CiA’s top agents

ulrimate failure as

rdie
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and a man whose career mirrors the history
of US. foreign policy since World War IL. He
did the dirty jobs in Vietnam, Laos, Paki-
stan, Egypt, and finally. Beirut. He was an
“action agent”—one whose work often end-
ed in someone else’s death. But he wasnm't
simply a hired killer: he was a complex
man who had a girlfriend back home and
who ran an anrique store with a friend.

Buckley was also the wvictim of an ill-
conceived assignment. Against Cla policy,
he was sent out into the cold by none
other than his boss, Williamm Casey, the
ancient spymaster who hoped to put the
derring-do back inro the Agency. WWhat
Casey got instead was a debacle.

Inside the ClLA | it was the same old story.
But it's one that seldom reaches the public.

IN A WAR OF ANOTHER KIND, WE
look at how Tom McMNutt, the area’s maverick
union boss, is taking on rwo of the great
names in Washingron business: Haft and
Hechinger Enraged athow corporate take-—
owver battles—most recently, the one that
affected Bradlees—are decimating his service
workers’ union, McMNutt has lashed out ~rith
a long-shot srategy that he hopes will make
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him a player in the takeover game. Dravid
Maoberg, a veteran labor writer, details how
MceNurr's Local 400 is suing the Hafrs for
damages and startng an organizing drive at
the resohately nonunion Hechinger’s stores.
Some folks think he’s crazy, and even
MceMNutt admits it won't be easy, but he's a
new breed of union leader who eften knows
as much about how companies are rumn as
the managers do. “1 dont have o win to
win,” he says with a cryptic smile. The
article abourt his fight starts on page ©64.

WE ALSO HAVE WORD FROM OUR
national correspondent, A. Craig Copetas,
who has been braving the Russian winrer and
gathering notes on the coming of capitalism
o the land of Lenin. No sooner did Copetas
enter the den of the bear than he found
that the commissars were limbering up
their backswings and shouting, “Foreski!™
Indeed. as Copetas reports on page 56,
golf, that symbol of decadence, will soon
make its debut in the Soviet Union.

In furure months we expect Copetas Lo
stop playing around and tell us who’s malk-
ing a killing as the Soviets learn the game
of money, power, and greed. —BK
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he watched and waited.

One view from William Buckley’s living room
on the 10th floor of the Al-Manara apartments
in West Beirut looked out on the Mediterranean;
the other looked out on the hazy panorama of
the Chouf Mountains. It was a beauriful dawmn
over Lebanon, the kind of morning that could
make anyone forget that just miles avway warring
militias were barttling for control of Beirut's back
alleys, as they'd done for nearly 10 years. Buckley
eyed the street below, looking for any unusual
mowvements, a sign that he was being watched.
He scanned the coast road that he’d drive along
o the British compound, where American inter-
ests in Lebanon were housed. The compound
was only a half mile from the apartment COIT-
plex, but Buckley wasn't a spy who ook chanc-
es. He watched and waited for several minutes,
then picked up his briefcase and walked down
the 10 flights of stairs to the street below.

Thousands of miles o the west, at the Central
Intelligence Agency’s headguarters in Langley,
Virginia. other CiA operatives were engaged in
other rituals. Deep in the bowels of the world's
most renowned intelligence agency, commuri-
cations specialists manned the encryption and
decoding machines thart are the heart of the net-
work of clectronic eyes and cars that ties the
Agency to its agents in the field. Buckley’s mes-
sages were among the most important cables
that came through the communications center;
they were tagged TOP SECRET and sent immedi-
ately to the seventh floor, to William Casey, the
director of central intelligence. The communica-
rions center was comparatively quiet on March
16, 1984; the inbound traffic consisrted of stan-
dard intelligence reports from outposts as far-
flung as Mombassa and Bangkok. With the
exception of a nasty little war that was secretly
being fought in Central America, the United States
was At peace.

Buckley waited a few minutes before he got
into his car. He was partent, his deliberation
reflecting three decades of icy caution. His pur-

AE L PHOTONS 1IN THE TIME LINE. UNLESS OTHERWISE LABELFD, SUFPLIED BY

n the morning of March 16, 1984
America’s most important intelli-
gence asset in the Middle East fol-

= lowed his usual regimen: he exer-
- cised, made a pot of coffee, ate a soli-
z tary breakfast, scanned some re-

ports, and packed his briefcase. Then

poseful manner was his rrademark, the thing
that had helped to make him one of the CiaA’s
most successful agents. When others showed
fear, Buckley became almost overly relaxed. He
dropped his briefcase onto the seat beside him
and began his trip along the coast road.

It was, in a sense, Buckley’s last ride. “WWoithin
moments a Renault had pulled out of an alley
ahead of him and coughed out three armed
masked gunmen. No warnings were necessary,
no words were spoken; Buckley was outmanned,
ourgunned, and clearly ourwitted. He was dragged
from his automobile and showved into the Renaulrt,
which sped away along the coast road and
into Beirut, its trail lost among the grim ruins
of the city’s decimated Moslerm and Christian
neighborhoods.

The kidnapping was thoroughly professional.
Buckley had been disarmed, his radio had been
smashed, his tires had been blown—all in less
than 15 seconds. 1t was clear that his mowve-
ments had been closely monitored. His kidnap-
pers knew who he was, where he lived, and,
most important, how he was protecred. By the
time his colleagues realized that he’d vanished,
all traces of him were gone, the trail oblitera ted
by the labyrinth of blood that characterized Beirur.

“I wwas just overwhelmed,” says Chip Beck, a
State Department employee who served with
Buckley in Beirut. “1 mried o go through how it
might have happened. 1 was back here [in the
United States], and I just couldn’t fathom it. T had
a hard time emotionally.™

Beck wasn't thee only one who was stunned by
the kidnapping. At a high-level, early morning
meeting,. an ashen and enraged William Casey
demanded that the Agency’s top counterterrorisirn
expert be immediately locarted and rescued. “Find
him! he screamed in frustration. “Find him ™

No expense was o be spared, no stone was to
be left unturned. Everything was at stake for the
cia, particularly the morale of every agent in
every part of the world. Casey knew, perhaps
better than anyvone else at Langley, thiar the kid-

BETTMANN NEWSPHOTOS
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THE LIFE AND
TIMES OF
WILLIAM BUCKLEY

May 31, 1928 Buckley is born to
middle-class parents in Medford.
Massachusetts. FHe becomes an avid
reader at a yvoung age: later his
interests turn almost exclusively to

politics and history.

e SN =
June 1, 1945 Buckley enlists in
the arnry, but the war ends before
he can _fulfill a longtime dream: to
serve in combat. He calls his enlist-—
mernt a mistake.

September 1947 His two-year
hitch in the army ended, Buckley
enrolls in Boston University’s lib-
eral arts program. He excels as a
student, friends say.

June 25, 1950 The Korean War
begins.

June 1951 Buckley reenlists in the
army. He's commissioned as a
secornd licutenant in the infantry.
September 1951 Buckley arrives
in South Korea (on September 10,
according to ClA colleagues) and
lecads a platoon in the LS. drive
up the Korean peninsula. His wumnit
engages Chinese Cormrmunist troops
in brutal battles on Korea's deso-
Late. frozen mountains. He is 23,

REGARDIE S =1
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1962 : BUCKLEY LEADS A GREEN BERET UNIT in Boston' s Memorial Day parade.
which was being pressured to train counterinsurgency experts, had sent

CIA,
himto Fort Bragg towork with the Special Forces . He was part of anew generation

of warriors who would battle Third World rebels.




napping of a CiA agent anywhere threatened Cia
agents everywhere; secrets might be revealed,
identities might be disclosed. They were all watch-
ing to see what their employer would do to get
Buckley back, silently measuring their own chanc-
es of surwvival by Buckley’s fate. If Casey couldn’t
rescue his friend, a man whom he’d come to
trust implicitly during his short timme as the head
of the Cia, then no agent was safe.

Buckley's kidnapping represented the worst
kind of horror for the few agents who'd served
with him in assignments all over the world
throughout three decades. They pleaded for rad-
ical acrtion to win his release, noting that the
Agency had failed before in crises such as this.
Most poignantly, they remembered the fate of
one of Buckley's closest friends, Tucker Gougle-
mann, an agent who'd been stranded in Saigon
after it was conguered by the North Vietnamese.
Despite the danger, Gouglemann had traveled to
Saigon to search for his Vietnamese wife and
child, a lone romantic American adrift in a con-
fused Oriental sea. Buckley had monitored Gougle-
mann’s movements and had vainly attempted o
reach him by a secure communicartions link, but
his effort had been furile. Within days Gougle-
mann had been arrested. Within weeks he'd
been shipped to a prison camp. Within months
he was dead.

When Gouglemann was caprured, Cia opera-
rives had rushed to spark the Agency to life.
Meetings had been held and promises made,
but in the end, they fele, little had been done
to win his release. Eighteen months after he
disappeared. his body was tarned over to the
Americans. His captors had shown no mercy:
virtually every bone in his body had been expert-
v and brutally broken.

Buckley never forgot Gouglemann, was never
dissuaded from his belief that the Agency could
have done more but didmt. Gouglemanmn's life,
Buckley believed. had been forfeived by callous
burcaucrats; he'd been quickly and qguierly for-
gorttenn by people who'd never worked in the
field, who'd never known the face of fear.

Like Buckley, Gouglemann had been a top
intelligence agent. Bur unlike Buckley, he'd been
wrell liked, even loved, by dozens of Agency hands.
Buckley may hawve been prescient, or perhaps he
realized that his aloofness had offended oo many
of his colleagues and made him oo many ene-

Mark Perry is a Washington writer whose articles
have appeared in the St. Louis Post-Dispatch, the
International Herald Tribune, the London Guard-
ian, Newsday. and the Washingron Post. He's the
author of Four Stars, a history and investigation of
the U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff, which will be published
by Houghton Mifflin Company in March.

mies. And perhaps he understood that his as-
signment to Beirut—a city in which he'd been
identified as a ClA agent—amounted to a wvirtual
death sentence.

“Don't let that happen to me,” Buckley told
a friend just weeks before he was kidnapped.
“Don’t let what happened o Gouglemann hap-
pen to me.”

Some ClA hands believe that what happened
o Gouglermann happened to Buckley. The Cia
would deny it, of course. It would contend that
it turned the Middle East upside down looking
for him. Just look at the evidence: the Intel-
ligence Support Activity, the secret army in-
telligence group that Buckley had helped to es-
tablish, sprang into action. The National Sec-
urity Agency ran intercepts on everything thac
mowved in Beirut. Even the DEA was brought
into the case, on the odd chance that a drug
dealer somewhere in Lebanon knew something
about Buckley’s fate.

But agents who have a less charitable wview of
the CiA’s search for Buckley repeat the dark mur-
rerings that made the rounds of bars and hang-
outs in Northern Virginia in the days after the
kidnapping.

“Look for Buckley?” an agentasks. his whisper
revealing a barely audible laugh. He raises his
evebrows conspiratorially. “Why, sure we looked
for Buckley. Why, we turned over every piece of
paper in the C1A looking for that man.”

WVwhat follows is the swtory of one of Aamerica’s
top spies, a spy whom many intelligence opera-
tives believe was left out in the cold. It ismt a
story that the U.S. intelligence community wants
you to read. WNowhere in our govermnment are
secrets more closely kept than ar the Cia. lts
employees are prohibited from talking abourt
their work and their colleagues, and its docu-
ments are kept under the deepest cover. Bur
after a series of meetings over a period of many
months, some former and current Cla agents
~wrere willing o talk about their friend. This report
is a product of those conversations, as well as
interviews with a number of U.S. intelligence
officials and analysts; other information about
Buckley was found in U.S. government docu-
ments and depositions.

The result is an unprecedented look at the
secret life of an American spy, a soldier of mis-
fortune whose career mirrored US. foreign
policy after World War 11. As a 1A agent, Wil-
liam Buckley was involved in the Bay of Pigs,
in the bloodiest operations of the Vietnam WWar,
and in sensitive missions o Egvpt, Pakistan,
and Lebanon. He was a fearless warrior, a skilled
tactician, and an insatable lover. His story exem-
plifies the best and worst about the Cla—often at
the same time. e

B
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Early 1952 Buckley is awarded a
Silver Star, the army’s medal for

gallantry, for single-handedly cap-
turing a North Korean machine-
Eun nest.

Early 1953 Buckley is promoted
to capitairn. e earns two Purple
Hearts for wouwrnds received in battle.
Early 1954 Buckley is offered a _job
by the Central Intelligence Agency.
Mid 1954 Buckley completes the
Agency’s three-day exam and its
preliminary training and receives
course instruction. He's dispatched
to Fayetteville, North Carolina

for schooling in psychological

aperations.
Early 1955 Buckley receives his
degree from Boston Universiiy

February 1956 Buckley begins a
tour at the CIAS headgudarters in
Langley, Virginia as an intelligence
analyst. He's pressed into service as
a result of the Agency’s Berlin tun-
nel crisis.

Mid or late 1958 According to a
ClLA contract analyst, Buckley is giv-
en field training at a CIA station in
Europe, probably as part of a team
of political analysts who are assigned
tor the US. embassy in Bonn; the
repore cannot be confirmed. Other

REGARDIE'S &3
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reporits say that Buckley is dis-

patched as an adviser erndianc,

Laos. where he serves i arn unoff
al capaci with the /.S, Military

ASSESfcTig

these reports also canr

confirmed.

spends much of his tim
as one of the ] Jor the ClLA's

Cuba Brigade. which w

When the brigade
the Bay of Pigs fails.
igned o Langley. Buckley

is birter about the inwv on. for

he believes that it might have suc-
ce d with proper support from
the bureaucrats in the White House

- - = S .
1962 and 1963 In Fayverteville,
Buckl, irains LS. Special Forc
ets) for s i i
one af the few army
ClIA officers who has received cou

arnd counterter

Woor k-
ing out of the CLA’s office in Cholon,

1981 : BUCKLEY TN CATRO,
training Avvwar Sadat"' s
bodyguards. Before
long Buckley sounds
an alarm: Sadat' s in

grave danger .

FPHOTOGRAFH (BOTTOM: | P LAFFO




BUCKLEY IS DEAD. His trail had been obliterated by the labyrinth of
For many years he'd told colleagues that

1985 :

blood that characterizmed Beirut.
their work was the work of the nation, that their mean sacrifices were necessary,

that death was part of the job. Now it was his turn.




CHAPTER ONE:

deepest secrets have stamped Buckley’s life EYES
OMNLY. OQuestions about America’s top counter ter—
rorism operative are met with palpable silence:
phones go dead. conversarions stop in mid-
sentence, smiles are wiped clean from wearh-
ered faces.

Here is all the Company will say: Buckley
worked in Beirut in 1984 as a political analyst
for the State Department. He was kidnapped,
held incommunicado, interrogated. tortured,
and later—died in captivity. The cCia tried to
get him back but couldn™. His mame came up
in the depositions given by cia officials to
Senate and House invesrtigators during the Iran-
contra hearings and in numerous newspaper
reports.

Everything else is either unknown or secret.

“T don’t want to tallk about Buckley,” says
one of the few retired ciA analysts who called
Buckley a f[riend. “vvhar can you say about
hirm?”

The analyst, who's leaning over a bar in Mcl ean,
slaps his knee, swivels on his srool. and gives a
half smile. “Maybe you haven't heard,” he says.
“WAilliarm Buckley met the bear. He was gotten by
the getters.™

In intelligence parlance, the shorthand that
passes for discourse among the elite group of
Agency operatives who work the field, Buckley
“checked out,” “squared the circle,” “kissed the
flag.”™ or, worse yvert, “did not rise again from the
dead.” William Corson, a rertired UJS. Marine
colomnel and intelligence analyst, puts it this way:
“This is a dog that won't smile, that doesm't wag
his tail, that isn’t warm at night.” He pauses for a
moment, then his bitter voice wheezes over the
rhone. “Let me speak American,” he says. “This
man died and shouldn't have. God lowves little
children, drunks, and the good ol’ U.S. of A.
Bur thar sure as hell didn't help Bill Buckley.™
He laughs, but only for a moment, before going

FPHOTOGRAFPH (LEFT): BETTMANMN NEWSPHOTOS

T HE M AKING OF A SPY

o one at the CI1A likes to talk about
William Buckley. The CIA agent
who was tortured to delirinum and
death by his Hezbollah captors is
one of the Agency’s best-kept se-
crets. I's damned eerie, almost as
if thoose who guard the natiomr’s

on: “You stay away from this one. William
Buckley is dead.™

Some of Buckley's enemies blame him for
the Iran-contra scandal. If he hadn't gone off
and gotren himself kidnapped, they say, the
Agency wouldn't have had to purt up with rthe
likes of Oliver North and Manucher Ghorbani-
far on its public record and wouldn't have con-
tribured o a new blot on the Republic's blem-
ished history. They say that Buckley needn’'t have
gone to that stink hole, Beirut. (“It's not even a
part of the goddamned planet,” one says.) He
could have talken an assignment in a quieter part
of the world; he might have gone., they say, to
Saudi Arabia, “the big sandbox.™

Theres sick humor in all this, a bitter off-
handedness that intelligence agents subsriture
for drunken wakes. But the urge o blame Buckley
for “getting himself involved with those Hezbollah
fellas™ belies the paralyzing chill that came over
the Agency in the weeks that followed his kid-
napping. Evenmally a tape that showed Buckley
being tortmared bobbed to the surface and was
served up o the CciA’s analysts with sad reluc-
tance by Casew. Later Casey took it o President
Reagan, and after an anguished silence the two
spent their emotions.

The president’s viewing seems to have closed
the book on Buckley. Through grim wars on
lonely barttlefields and in little-known intelli-
gence skirmishes from Europe to the Far East,
he’d been one of the Agency’s best. Even his
bitterest enemies had to agree: he and the c1A
were made for each other.

EVEMN AS A BOY, BUCKLEY SHOWED A PRE-
dilection for international intrigue and a nose
for the boiled-out simplicity of right and wrong,.
He was an avid newshound , a voracious reader, a
burgeoning diplomat. He studied the intricacies
of war and lectured his classmates on the poli-

R R T TN R LR R LR LI AR AR LR LRI

o suburkb of Saigon. he dispaiches
Green Beret units to help train
Montagnard tribesmen in the Cen-
tral Highlands.

1964 Buckley asks for and receives
a leave of absence from the CIA
He spends a year desigmimg the dio-
rama ar the exington-Comcord
battleficld in Massachusetts. Friends
say he also uses rhe leave o pre-
pare for another tour in Vietrar:
he receives detailed briefings on
the war from Agency officials, who
have made him a key element in
their counterterrorism planning.
Early 1965 In Nha Trang. Viet-
LTI, Buckle_}-' ftrains native wmnits
in counterinsurgency dactivities.
Mid 1966 Buckley earns a second
Silver Star after he blows wp Viet-
cong armmunition caches along the
Ho Chi Minh Trail. His service

in Vietnam is interrupted by a short
assignment in Savannakhet, Laos,
where he identifies communist
agents for Laos’s neutralist
EOVErTIFent.

Late 1966 Buckley conducts para-
military operations against North
Vietnamese army units in the
northern part of South Vietrnam
arnd along the Ho Chi Minh Trail
He is promoted to lieuwtenant colonel

1967 and 1968 Buckley runs
operations designed to expose

North Vietnamese dgenits who are
working undercover in South Viet-
nam. He becomes known as one of
the C1As best behind-the-lines
agerTils.

Mid 1969 A team of Buckley’s ir-
regulars destroys three Vietcong
munition bases in a legendary
operation. Buckley’s team cludes a
large enemy contingent that's sent
after it: later a Special Forces
officer says that Buckley is lucky
to have muade it our alive. Buckley
is promoted to colonel.

Late 1969 Buckley is appointed
the head of Provincial Reconnais-
sance Linits for South Vietnam.: the

REGARDIE S 87



rics of the ambiguous. He was a kind of political
Mozart, as familiar with the turf of American
politics at the age of 10 as most people are at the
age of 30.

Buckley played elegant war games. On the
floor of his room he moved line upon line of
painted soldiers through drills, parades. and cer-
emonies. He spent hours movwving the iron bri-
gades into positions o crush enemies and win
victories. For him it wasn't just play: it was prac-
tice for adulthood. The metal men died in smarte,
straight rows, mown down like wheat. Then he
painstakingly resurrecred them wo Lght again.
When Japan attacked Pearl Harbor, he was 13,

Buckley wasn't at all like his middle-class par-
ents; it was as if their genes had been skewed by
some peculiar fate. His obsession with politics
was purely personal; his father, a stockbroker,
wasn't particularly inreresred in the subject. His
mother raised him and his two sisters to respect
authority, earn good grades, and love their coun-
ry. The Buckleys were religious. but not devour;
they were Roman Catholic exemplars of the Prot-
estant ethic. They attended church at the proper
ties and sniffed after success and the elusive
Dream as diligently as any other American family.

If anything. the lives of the Buckleys of Med-
ford, Massachusetts were mildly soporific. Mom
and Dad wanted their children to be exception-
al, bur not exceprtionally well known. Buckley's
father thought thart a good business education,
or even an education in the liberal arts, followed
by a job as a stockbroker or corporate executive
would suirt his son just fine. He stood over his
son as an example of the value of clean living. He
taught him that a New England sense of self-
abnegaton coupled with a fervid belief in harcd
work and strict probicy would lead 1o happiness.
If all went as planned, young Bill would go o
college. get a job. raise a family, and vote Repub-
lican. He'd be a parmriot and a defender of the
future that his father had helped o build. He'd
manipulate portfolios, not people. When others
sold, he'd buy. When the market was down, he'd be
up. No one ever throughrt thar he'd become a spwv.

In June 1945 Buckley made his way to an
army recruiting office and enlisted as a private.
Later he reluctantly admitted that his patriotic
act had been a mistake: he'd been born oo late
(on Memorial Day 1928) to serve in World War
. When jJapan surrendered just rwo months
afrer he enlisted, he recognized how ridiculous
he’d been and realized that he should have gone
o college. It was one of the few missteps he'd
make in his life: he received two years of training
in the art of soldiering without gerting a chance
O use it

Buckley’s friends see in his enlistment the seed
of some of his later problems: he followed a plan
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to its end, no matrter where it led or what it cost.
He was obsessed with order and clung o his
decisions in the face of setbacks that would have
undone most others. He finished his hitch in the
army a chastened and unused soldier. then
prompitly enrolled as a liberal arts soudent at
Boston LUiniversicy.

Four years later, when the Korean War began,
Buckley gort Ilncky. He was one of thousands of
commissioned officers who'd lead their genera-
tion into the muck and muddle of Asia. Korea, he
told his friends, was his chance to soldier.

Buckley’s tour in Korea ensured his later employ-
ment with the Cra. “He was just damn brawve,”
says Beck. “He won a Silver Star for valor in Korea
when they weren't exactly handing therm oue™

Buckley also received vwo Purple Hearts. The
first one came as a result of an injury he received
when he single-handedly caprtured a North Korean
sguad. He'd destroyved a machine-gun nest amnd
in a fit of rage and muscle had dared his enemies
to kill him. He won his second Purple Heart atter
adance with near-certain death_In the midst of a
firefight on a frigid night he led his sharttered
platoon to safery. In the process he tore an ene-
my sqguad o bloody shreds and then walked
among the dead and dying silently, as if he were
a latter-day Patton.

Buckley was left wounded, tattered, frost-bitten,
and hungry—but unshaken. He'd danced the Asian
night away and lived rto dance again. He'd proved
that he had nerves of steel.

“He always knew what could and ‘couldn’'t be
done in a combat situation,” Beck says. “But he
scared people because he was so fearless.”

BUCKILEY EMERGED FROM KOREA WITH HIS
life as a professional soldier mapped out in front
of him. He could™ve climbed the career ladder o
the Pentagon and a pension, perhaps picking up
another war or rwo along the way. But the 1A
had maken note of his record and idenrified him
as a soldier with special talents. In 1954 it made
Buckley an offer: il he would submit to a battery
ol tests and a tough regimen of special training, it
would hire him as one of its agents. He was told
to think over the offer carefully because the com-
mitment was forever, but he didn't hesitate: with-
in 24 hours he put his fate into the cCi1A’s hands.

The Agency gave Buckley a west it calls an
Tassessment and evaluation™—its euphemism for
a grueling 72-hour interrogation. In part (or so
retired Cla employees say), the interrogation is
designed to determine when a person would lie
and what it would take o make him tell the
truth. The crucible is especially useful for those
whom the CIA is considering for work in the field
as part of its covert operations directorate. The
directorate is the Cadillac of institutional spying;
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PRIs run the Phoenix PrOgTarm.
which is responsible for the “neu-
tralization™ of more than 50,000
Vietnamese political officials. Buck-
ley works directly under the super
visior of the CIA's station chicf

in Vietnam, Theodore Shackley.
Mid 1972 or 1973 Buckley is re-
called tor Langley: he's one of the
last irmprortart Armericorn crcdves

ers to leave Sourh Vietnam.

1974 Brckley crrcd hipr Beck (abrorve )
a State Depa rimerit cmpk‘{yez: T
arn antigque store in Manassas. Beck
recalls Buckley: “Fle used to say,
Give mie all the little old ladies. the
misfits and mavericks, those wheo
athers have given up an, and 1T
accomplish grear things.”

April 1975 The North Vietrcmese

enter Saigon; the war in Vietnam

ends.

June 19TS Buckley wages crm inter—
ral Agency battle to gret the Ulnited
States to lauwnch an mmediate
rescue of CLA agent Tucker Crougle-
rrcinn, whe remains in South Vier-
nam. Gouglemanmn is tortured
and killed: Buckley believes that the
Agency abandoned him. “Don't

let thar happen o me.” Buckley lat-
er tells a friend. “PDon't let what
happerned to Gouglemann happen
Loy rrwer.

August 19TE8 Buckloy bocomes the
chief political officer of the LIS,
embassy in Damascus, Syria. e
is reportedly identified as a 1A
agent by Syrian intelligence officials.



it has its own traditions, its own unspoken cus-
toms. Ir's the Agency’s most elite club. In the mid
1950s, in particular, it was a club that was diffi-
culrt to join; you had to be asked, and you had o
pass the initiation rite: the three days of mind
games that certified that you were mentally fic
enough to survive international insanity.

Buckley passed the first day’s hurdles, which
were basically medical tests, with no trouble.
The tests on the second and third days were far
more rigorous. These were psychological exam-
inations that had been individually railored to
determine his potential weak points. The Cla
especially wanted to know if the brurtality of war
had impaired his judgment. It wanted to discow-
er how he’d survived Korea and whether he could
do it again. The tests were meant to bring our the
worst and the best in him, o trick and train him
at the same time. The Agency didn’t want killers
or psychotics: it wanted men who knew exactly
what they were doing and would do it anyway.

The three days of tests were only rthe begin-
ning. Buckley was told that he still had to under-
go a final examination that the Cia then referred
o as a “technical interview.” Put simply., a TI
is a polygraph test, a struggle with a machine
that maps canyons of lies and plains of outh.
No one then or now can be employved by the
c1a without taking a T1, including the director
of central inrelligence, and no one is steely
enough to maintain a neat line of vuth. Even
those who fool themselves can’'t fool the needle.
Afrer taking the test, prospective employees
sign a form that spells out their willingness
o undergo fuare examinations. Anyone who
fails a Tl is dismiissed, as is anyone who re fuses to
sign the form. Anyone who's found coaching
someone else omn a T1 is dismissed. Anyone
caught prepping for a TI is dismissed. A T1 is the
confessional of the spies” cat hedral, every agent’s
ritual Pater Noster.

The results of Buckley’s T1 were put in his file
in the ClA’s security office. In the same file, which
the ClAa calls an agents 201, the security officer
who'd evaluated Buckley’s performance placed a
signed copy of Buckley’s oath of secrecy. It was
the first of many that he'd sign during his career.
He promised to well the outh and to keep the
nation’s secrets, o obey its laws and guard the
national security.

Finally. Buckley was given his orders: he would
remain in the army and rell no one that he was
actually employed by the ClA. The Agency would
ensure that he received the training he needed.
He'd ger his first orders at the end of his field
training. Until then, he was rold, he’d take cours-
es in international relations, intelligence analy-
sis, research and evaluation, intermational com-
munism, and special operations.

PHOTOGRAPH (CERTER) MENRI BLURE AU/ SYGMA

THE CIA IS MORE DOGGED IN TEACHING
people how to spy than most people realize. C1A
indoctrination is emotionally exhausting and
physically exacring. Training the intellect is giv-
en less attention than training the body for sur-
wviwval; spying is as much rechnique as gray martter.
Agents are expected to be in shape and to know
how o escape, hide, fight, kill, and calm their
fears. They're trained to intercept radio cormimnu-
nications, plant bugs, surreptitiously listen in on
conversations, identify friends, and discredit foes.
An agent is more than casually dishonest; the life
of a patriot can lead to ourright parancoia. Trust is
a comfort of those who never fight, who’ve never
endured the physical brutality of military train-
ing, which is still the core of an agents first
months as a Cla employee.

Buckley spent the last six months of 1955 at
Langley taking rthe usual recruits’ training. At the
end of his stint he was dispatched to Fort Bragg
in Fayetteville, North Carolina, where he received
psychological operations training at the army’s
newly established special warfare school. The
training was the brainchild of Major General
Robert McClure, who'd been General Eisenhow-
er’s “psyops” officer in Europe during World
WWar 1I. McoClure was using Fort Bragg to train
Eastern European immigrants in the fine art of
subwversion before they were sent back into the
Sowvier Union’s new satellite states. When Buckley
wasn't being rrained, he was training others,
amempting o mold the Germans, Czechs, Magyars.,
and Poles into a small but effecrive anti-Sowviet
swrike force that could operate with impunity
behind the Irom Curtain.

MNot every Cla official believed that the opera-
tion would work, for the Eastern European recruits
were well meaning but inexperienced. They
claimed that they controlled parties of untold
numbers whose far-flung networks would rise
up and throw off the Bolshevik jackal, but it was
an illusion:; they were defeated men who con-
rolled parties composed of themselves. They
were demi-Napoleons who ranted endlessly
against the injustice of it all. In the end, skeprtics
warned, most of them would be identified and
eliminated.

Ewventually, the skeptics were proved to be
right: few of those who returned to their home-
lands became valuable sources of informartion.
Some simply vanished. A feww were behind pathet-
ic operations that ended in embarrassing show
trials put on by the East's new rulers. The trials
seemed o say it all, as if the KGB were sending a
pathetic plea to the Cla: Can't you do any better
than this?

At the end of 1955 Buckley was recalled to
Washington and detailed to the army’s technical
raining facility at Fort Meade, Maryland, where
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Mid 19T Buckley is part of an

American team that’s assigned to

train Anwar Sadat’s bodyguards.
Cairo, Buckley discovers, is on the

edge of revolt.

MNovember 4, 1979 75 embassy
emplovees in Tehran are taken

hostage by Iranian revolutionary
students.

MNovember 21, 1979 The 7S con-
sulate in Islamabad, Pakistan is
sacked by fundamentalist students.
Buckley narrowly escapes and
spends the balance of the yvear in

Mexico City.

January 1980 Buckley is an advis-
er Lo Operation Eagle Claw, Pres-
ident Carter’s ill-fated plan to rescue
the American hostages in fran. The
mission’s failure further embit-
ters Buckley against the ULS, rma-
tiornal security bureaucracy.
February 1981 Buckley is part of
a wnit that trains the army’s lai-
est counterterrovism group, the In-
telligence Support Activity, in
Favetteville.

S
March 1981 Buckley meets Wil-
liam Casey. the dirveceor of the

ClA, and becomes one of his impor-
tant advisers and friends

June 1981 Buckley retuwrns to Cairo
tor continue his training of Sadat’s
bodyguards. His observations rein-
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he was made a part of the 902nd Army Commu-
nications Group, a reserve unit thar the crLa used
o train recruits in intercept techniques. After
classes on Friday and Sarurday the boys of the
902nd headed into the countryside around Bal-
rimore and tapped into phone lines, identifying
the callers and the called. It was a straight and
simple operarion, Spying 101. The Agency wval-
ued the training because it provided experience
in its more techmnical operations and because it
fostered camaraderie among the troops.

In early 1956 Buckley became an analwvst at
Langley. At the time the Agency was engaged in a
murderous battle with the KGB in Berlin, Prague,
Warsaw, and Budapest, a battle that was leading
to the deaths of the Agency’s best agents. The
killings were turning the Cla into a battleground
of recriminations. To get to the bottom of the
trouble, Buckley and others analyzed thousands
of pages of intercepts that had come from “the
Berlin tunnel,” a massive underground commu-
nicadons complex that had tapped into the Sowvi-
ets” military communicartions line between East
Berlin and the Kremlin. The lines thar connected
the seat of the Soviet empire to its vassal states
ran raw with some of thee mostinteresting intelli-
gence anyone had ever seen. The tap was consid-
ered to be the greatest intelligence coup in history.
The intercepts were processed, translated, ana-
lyzed, reassessed, and then, inevitably, used to
idenrify Sowviet agenrts in the West. It was Ultra
and Enigma rolled into one—a grearter victory
than any military maneuver could promise.

Despite the avalanche of information, howewv-
er, the CiA’s assets in Eastern Europe continued
o urn up dead. It was absolutely frightening.
Eventually the mounrting number of deaths led
Cla officials to conclude that there vwas an insider
somewhere, a mole who was passing the secrets.

The CiA took extraordinary steps to plug its
lealk. The final step was to shut down the tunnel
operation. It seemed, at least at the time, to be
the only possible solurion. The murders had
begun when the tunnel was opened; they’'d lilkke-
1y stop when it was closed. Only much larter did
the Agency learn the source of the leak. In the
early 1960s British government officials admit-
ted that a number of their top agents had been pass-
ing secrets to the KGB—a shocking security breach
that shook the foundartions of the British govern-
ment. Englantl’s deputy stadon chief in Berlin, these
officials said, had kept the Soviets apprised of infor-
mation that had been received from the tunnel.

Analyzing raw data was exciting work for
Buckley—a chance to prove that he’d be a valu-
able Agency employee—burt it hardly made for
the kind of career he’d envisioned. His combart
experience in Korea, he believed, indicated that
he’d be more valuable to the ciA in the field as a
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military trainer for operations that used military
assets. By the beginning of 1957 he'd made it
clear that he was tired of being “an intelligence
chopper.” He said he wanted ro get back to
soldiering.

In 1959 he got his wish. He won an assign-
ment as a military trainer to the CiAs Cuba Bri-
gade in Florida Composed of exiled Cuban
civilians and former officials of Barista’s govern-
ment, the Cuba Brigade was the brainchild of
Allen Dulles, President Eisenhower’'s direcrtor of
central intelligence. The idea was to employ it in
an effort to replace Castro’s government with a
pro-American regime, as had been done in Gua-
temala in 1954. Molding the disparate political
elements of the Cuban community into a myili-
rary swike force was challenging work, but Buckley
was particularly adeprt art it

“He lowved this kind of work,” one of Buckley’s
friends from the period says. “He hated the bureau-
cracy, just hated it, so getting this hands-on stuff,
getring away from Langley, just brought him our.™

If Buckley hated the bureaucracy before his unit
hit thie beaches of Cuba, he despised it afterward.
Wwithin 48 hours of the invasion on April 16, 1961,
it was clear thar the Bay of Pigs operation had
failed. Like most of his fellow Agency officers,
Buckley was quick to blame the inner circles of the
Kennedy administration., which had pulled the
brigade’s air cover just as the operartion began.

“He just couldn’ believe it,” a friend says. “All
this work and then they just threw it away. He
was just crushed, really. Very angry.’

I™N THE WAKE OF THE BAY OF PIGS FI1ASCO,
Buckley continued his search for the best way to
use his considerable talents. He told the Agency
that he wanted to maintain his operational free-
dom, that he'd prefer not to be detailed to Lang-
ley: In fact, the Agency wasn't abourt to bring him
back into the bureaucracy, especially in light of
the Kennedy administration’s new emphasis on
special operations. Afrer Kennedy established
the Green Berets, the ClA sent Buckley to Fort
Bragg o become a Special Forces expert, one of
the few Cla men who had training in the area.
Buckley’'s expertise brought him a promoton and
respect among Agency officials, who were being
pressed by Kennedy to turn out a new generation
of counterinsurgency experts. It was to be the
newest and most effective form of warfare, a waw
of doing bartrtle that would turn back the tide of
Third World rebels who answered to Moscow.

The experience was another challenge for
Buckley, a way he could put his military training
o use. By 1964, howewver, Buckley realized that
the real action wasn't in training the Green Berets
afrer all. The real challenge was in leading them
in barttle, in fighting in Vietnam.
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Sorce his feelings thar Sadar is in

dearger

October 1981 Sadar is assassirmar-
ed while he watches a military
parade in Cairo.

Early 1982 Ar Casev’'s request,
Buckley agrecs to becorme the LA
Lhiaison in Lebanon. The assignment.
he is told, will be a short one
since it is clear that he’s been iden-
tified as a ClA agent. He hopes
that the assigrimernt will be his last
one in the Middle Ease

August 1982 rFPLO troops with-
drenw from Beirut: Buckley serves
as the CLAs eyes on the operation
He returns o Langley to conduct

a high-level assessment of the ULS.
government's counierterrorism

policy.

April 18, 1983 The LI'S. embas-
sy in Beirut is bombed. The head
of the CILA's Near East division.
Robert Ames, and other top offi-
cers arve kRilled

June or July 1983 Buckley is roas-
signed o Beirut by Casey in direct
contravention of CLA policy.
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the madness; he was stunned to stark disbe-
lief when he witnessed the self-immolation of a
Buddhist monk. He knew then that WViemamm
would be a different kind of war, a war more
terrifying than any America had ever fought
WWithin weeks after he took his job as the com-
mander of a Nha Trang-based shooter team (a
counrerinsurgency squad that hunted WVietcong
units), he went deep into the war, transforming
himselfinto the epitome of a soldier, a man alone
against the darkness. His assignment would kast,
on and off, for a decade.

Buckley's transformation was an immuniza-
tion against the stupidity of the American strate-
2yv; he drew a line berween the institutionalized
insanity and indiscriminave murder of the free-
fire zones and his own belief that the war could
only be won by the individual soldier. His clos-
est friends noticed it first. Buckley became an
asceric fighrer, a man pleased by the essentials: a
~wrell-mmade bunk, a broken-in pair of boots, two
pairs of rampled greens, and a combat cap. His
pistol and rifle were shiny steel, his sole novena
to the conflict. Eventually, he believed, America’s
chrome machine would rust and break dowmn,
leawving rifle-toting soldiers to decide the contest
in unbroken combat in jungles and rice paddies.

Buckley’s assignment was o work with South
Vietnamese intelligence operatives to identify
and neutralize the Vietcong's political network
in South Vietnam’s Central Highlands. It was one
of the first assignments of its kind, a highly sensi-
tive military and intelligence operation that the
Apgency wanted 1o keep under wraps. Buckley ran
operations against his intelligence counterparts
who worked with the Vietcong and North Vietna-
mese army. Posing as a civilian political analyst,
he also doubled as a uniformed American adviser
who trained South Vietnmam’s native tribesmen.

WWithin a month of his arrival in South Viet-
nam, Buckley had transformed his unit of hill
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ietnam was a carnival of death, a
brutal freak show. In the jungles of
Southeast Asia, Amnerican chrome
and flash wrestled with Vietmhamese
fangs and claws in a horror house
of death. Buckley arrived in Saigon
justin time to see the beginning of

tribesmen into a legendary jungle fighting force.
He ook to his group of men immediately: he
found them honest, compassionate, and, above
all, uncommeonly brave. They never hesitated to
carry out an assignment, even when they under-
stood its danger. He learned as much from them
as they learned from him, and he gloried in their
successes. Night after night, through months of
combat anguish, he pracriced his trade, scoring
a kill here, then there, always making certain
that the fights were short, brutal, and without
quarter.

BUCKLEY S SUCCESS WAS SOOMN THE TALK
of 60 Pasteur Street, the CiaA’s dingy six-story
walk-up in the Saigon suburb of Cholon. In these
early days of the war, few Americans could boast
of the kinds of victories that Buckley won. Fewer
still survived the intricate web of corruption that
infected the American war effort. Buckley remained
uncompromised and uncorrupred, and he showed
the same bravery he'd shown in Korea.

“1I saw him go down muannels without hesita-
tion,” a friend from Buckley's Indochina days
says. “He wanted to show how it could be done.
Omne day, soon after he arrived, his group Mushed
a wvC official from a willage, but he just disap-
peared. We found the munnel and in Buckley
went—absolutely fearless, vou know. He came
our an hour later and looked like hell. But he got
the guy.™

Buckley’'s first rwo-year stint in Viemam includ-
ed a short stay in Savannakhet, Laos, a purrid
Mekong River town known for its intrigue, opi-
um, corruption, and brothels. It was Buckley’s
first seriously dangerous assignment in Indochi-
na; he worked with Laotian officials to uncowver
the network of MNorth Viemnmamese and Sowviet
agents who wanred o undermine Laos’s neutrality.

“He stood on street corners,” a colleague rermern-—
bers. “He would watch the streets for hours and

Ociober 23, 1983 The LS. Marines
barracks in Beirut are bormbed: 241
marines die. Buckley views the

disaster from his apartment in West

Beirwut .

,. £ i -
February 1984 Candace Flam-
mond, who'd been romantically
involved with Buckley for several
wears, receives her last phone call
Sfrom Buckley. “He said he hoped
he'd be coming home soon,” she
remembers. “I knew he thought he
was in danger. He was very upset.
He kept valking about going with
me to antigque shops, about how
he enjoved that.”

Harmmornd continues: “He told
me before he went to Beirut theat
he was expendable, that he was
being sent there by his boss because
he didrn’t matter much. I thought
he was a little bitter.™
March 16, 1984 Buckley is Rid-
napped by the Islamic Jihad in
Beiruwt. Casey orders an immedi-
abe rescuwe aitermpr.

May 1984 The FRI and the army’s
Intelligence Support Activity launch
intelligence operations in Lebanon
in the hope of locating Buckley
and securing his return.

Late 1984 Buckley is held in the
Bekaa valley. Some CIA operda-
tives claim thar he is also interro-
pated in Damascus and possibly
transferred o Tehrarn.

Jume 1985 Buckley dies in Tehran
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hours. “There’s one,” he'd say. Then, ‘There’s
another one” He'd smell Communists. He
knew exactly what he was up against.”

Buckley soon became one of the cia’s
most successful Indochina assets, known
as much for his intelligence insights as for
his personal bravery.

“He could really run an agent,” says omne
of his former ci1a cohorts. “Itr's half knowing
what o look for, where to send someone.
WVietnam was a shir hole, but he loved it
Loved everything about it.™

Buckley loved Vietnam so much that he
signed on for another two-year stint and
then yet another; he put six years of his life
into saving Vietnam from the Communists.
According o Agency officials, his career
was made by his work during the war, where
he began to carve out a personal legend as
an indestructible agent. He won another
Silver Star, apparently as a result of an oper-
ation he launched o blow up an ammuni-
tion cache on the Ho Chi Minh Trail in
Laos in 1969. Like his other irregulars,
Buckley was dropped into western Laos by
helicoprer and left to make his way inoo Nwva
territory. Veterans of the=se operations are
quick o spell our the dangers involved: the
MNWVA were smart and secretive and often
trailed Americans for miles in the jungles,
waiting for them to ler down their guard.
Then they left their callimg cards, marking
the American dead in Laos wwith a brutalicy
uneqgqualed in any other ssar.

“There wasn't one tme inany of these jopera-
tions] when we weren't on the run when we
came out,” says a former Special Forces sol-
dier. “You had to stay awake. If you dozed
off, they had you. They were always so damn
good; they knew we were there every nme.
It was just a matter of outrunning them —of
getting in, doing it, and gerting ourt.”™

In mid 1969 Buckley mowved his team of
Laotian irregulars into the Nva’s heartland
and detonated a North Vietnamese army
depot. Colleagues say that the odds were
against Buckley, but he managed o come
out withoutr a scratch.

“He was just cold abour it,” says a cla
regular. “He must have been afraid, buc 1
could never tell, really. He commumnicated it
o others. He was just so damn cool thart
everyone thought, Well, if this asshole can
do it, 1 should be able to.”

Buckley ended up running dozens of oper-
ations. Almost all of them ended with him
amnd his rcam emerging from the jungle to
grab ropes dangling from the helicopters
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that would Lift them o safery. On one such
operation, apparently in Sourth WVietnam,
Buckley met Beck, a Navy Seal who was to
remain a lifelong friend.

“He had this gruff exterior,” Beck says, "and
then 1 got o know him. He was a warm human
being. very warm. He loved the Viernamese
people; he had real sympathy for them.™

Afrer the war Beck and Buckley operated
an antigue store in Manassas, Virginia. “He
had an incredibly dry sense of humor, and
he was conrunually cracking jokes,” Beck
recalls. “He was upset if people didn't bar-
gain. He'd say, “Why didn't yvou bargain with
me? Come on, get the price down.” The cus-
tomers would love him.™

Beck, who calls Buckley “one of the most
generous human beings 've ever mer,” says
thar in Laos Buckley befriended a number
of native families and became especially close
to one thar had suffered greatly from the
nation’s civil war. In the lare 1960s he con-
vinced a West German f[@amily w help a
young L acoudan child that he knew; the West
Germans adopred the girl. When she wanved
o 2o o college, Buckley paid for it. He met
the girl on one of his many trips o Europe
in the early 1980s, but he never rold her
that he’d helped her

It wasn't the first time thatr Buckley had
shown his compassionate side to the world.
According vw a number of colleagues from his
Vietnam days, he generously supported an
orphanage that had been starved in Da Nang:
there are even reports that he monitored
the orphanage’™s progress after thie war.

But Buckley’s blood could also run cold
“1 can see him now, you know, the way he
was back then,” Beck says. “We had this big
operation, and everyone was very tentative.
1 could tell he was frustrated with the way it
was going., how long it was taking. So he just
said, “Oh, the hell with it.” We'd done all this
planning, and he just went out and did it
He one-upped us all. He just blew the hell
out of those people ™

Buckley also ook part in far more dan-
gerous operations inside South Vietnam afuer
1969, when he was detailed vo the legend-
ary Military Assistance Command Surveil-
lance and Observartion Group (known by
its acronym, MACSOG). As a ULS. operative
with 15 wyears of counrterinsurgency and
counterterrorism training, he became one
of MACSOG’s most soughrt-after operatives.
Based in Nha Trang. he conducted “order of
battle™ reports on NVA and VO units, under—
mined theé area’s vo political offices, and
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identified vC officials for assassination as
part of the Phoenix program.

By the end of 1969 Buckley had himself
been targeted by the vC and Nva forassassi-
nation. “Look, Buckley did what most Cla
agents did then,” a former mMacsoc officer
says. “This was a war. He ran teams, and did
a damned good job doing it.”

Some MACSOG officers remember Buckley
differently, howewver: as an agent who ook
oo many chances and who exposed him-
self unnecessarily. A few claim that by 1970,
at the end of his sixth year in Indochina,
he’d become a clear security risk 1o ongoing
ClA operations.

“Buckley just didn't know when to stop.™
says intelligence analyst Corson. “He was a orue
believer, an intelligence swashbuckler. He
couldn’t leave well enough alone. He wanted
it all. The CiA worries about guys like that;
it starts thinking that maybe they want to die.”

Orher charges were also made. It was whis-
pered that Buckley plaved it “too loose™ dur-
ing his time in Vietnam. He'd always been a
womanizer, but never more so than during
his Viemam assignment. His many liaisons
wrere the talk of the ClA station—as much a
sign of envy as a cautionary note thar his
habits could lead o trouble. If the Agency is
anything, it is puritanical. No one really
believed that Buckley was a security risk
because of his romantic liaisons, but a rake
is more likely o be compromised than a
man who minds his own business.

“He was just careless,” says an agent, “and
it could have led vo wmrouble. It didm’t, burt it
certainly could hawve.”

BY 1973 BUCKLEY WAS IN DPANGER 1IN
Vietnam, but not simply as a result of his
cowvert activities. Former special operations
officials, all of whom served with Buckley,
say thart he served- his last years in Indo-
china in something less than an official capac-
irty. For two yvears, these former “Green bean-
ies™ say, Buckley ran the PRU campaign in
South Viemam. It was a brutally taxing job that
ook him into the ugliest part of the war.
The PRUs, or Provincial Reconnaissance
Units, were the ClA’s answer to MNorth Vietnam's
campaign of terror. In essence, the PRUSs were
assassination squads—tghtly ran, inhumaniy
disciplined, viciously exacting in their retribu-
von. T hey killed thoousands of Vietmamese—
more than 50,000, according o some reports.
Buckley reporwedly did a magnificent job, serv-
ing with great competence and even greater boy—
alty under the ClA’s station chief, Ted Shackley.



T H

For vwo yvears Buckley dispartched teams
and issued orders from the Ci1A’s stmall office
in Cholon. The teams gathered intelligence,
probed Vietcong strongholds, and identi-
fied vC commanders in provinces under
South Vietmnamese control. It was the assign-
ment that Buckley had wanted simce his
days in Korea. While the 1.5, Army strug-
gled to gain control of the counry, he fought
the real war from behind his desk. If the war
was to be won. he believed, it would be won
in the villages. The Americans might pum-
mel and grind enemy units o dust, might
anmnihilare enemy units on the battlegrounds,
but ultimartely the wwar would be won (or
lost) by men like him—men who eliminated
the enemy’s leadership.

The war ook its woll. By 1973 Buckley
was a shadow of thie Tan he'd been when he'd
come o Saigon a decade before. His various
eccentricities and his almost reverential wor-
ship of the lone warrior had desmroved his
relations with his colleagues. He was a silent
and stern disciplinarian, an exacting and
irritaring workaholic. The war had swal-
lowed him just as it had swallowed others.
It consumed his every moment with an obses-
sive need o tackle the task at hand.

Buckley’s transformation made him a hat-
ed enemy to some of his associates. A col-
league describes him in sarcasrtic, biting
rerms: as the kind of man who'd count every
penny of the Company’s change, piling up
the silver and copper in neat little stacks of
guarters, dimes, nickels, and pennies. Like
Kurtz in Conrad’s Heart of Darkness or the
colonel in Apocalypse Now, Buckley believed
that he personified the war, that he could do
things that others couldn’t or wouldn't do. And
he made certain that they knew it. Buckley
bore the cross for the Agency in Vietnam,
bBoocorming, an impactgent askmaster—a charac-
meristic that might have been overlooked if
only he hadnt become so insufferable.

EN 1973, AT THE END OF THE VIETNAM
debacle. Buckley was ordered back o Lang-
kv again. According vto those who knew
Bim during this period of his career. the
recall couldn’t have come at a better time.
Aocording to these associates, Buckley’s mname
Bad appeared on a list of C1A agents that was
corculated in East Germany in 1970. In the
Asency’s parlance, he’d been “burned™; he'd
Been identified as an agent in Saigon, in Nha
Trang, in Savannakhert, in East Berlin, and,
s officials feared, in Hanoi.

Buckley’s trail goes cold after Vietnam —
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an indication of the extraordinary steps he
ook to stay alive. After his high-profile years
in rthe front lines of MACSOG™s twilight foot
soldiers, he stayved close to Langley, mar-
shaling his few friendships and waiting for
new jobs and bigger challenges. After a year-
long debriefing., the cia disparched him o
West Germany, where he served as a high-
level Agency official in Bonmn. It should hawve
been a quiet time for the Company, which
was in the process of withdrawing many of
its asserts from Indochina, burt it wasmwe. By
the mid 1970s it was clear o allmost every-
one at thie Cia that the battle lines in the war
of the intermnatonal intelligence services were
once again about o shifc.

Chapter Three: The Middle East

IN 1978 BUCKLEY WAS SENT TO SYRI A,
where he served as a political officer in the
LS. emmbassy. The assignment was the first
of many for him in the Middle East, a new
front line in the cLA’s widening intelligence
war. Ower the next six vears he served in six
assignments in six parts of the world.

. When Buckley arrived im Damascus, the city
was awash with rumors about Syria’s leader,
Hafez al-Assad: he was said ro be under fire
from his owmn party, was reported to be serious-
Iy ill, and., at one point, was even rumored o be
on his way to foreign exile. Buckley had rou-
ble confirmming the rurmors; his informants were
exmemely frightened. Syria’s internal security
operatives provided formidable opposition
o him, so much so rthat he often couldn’™
tell whether his informants were providing
as much informartion o them as they were
o him. As he’d done in Vietnam, he decided
o take some risks o ger good informarcion.

“1t wwas almost inevitable that he’d be iden-
tified. It was only a martter of time,” says a
ClA contract employee. “He'd been identi-
fied in East Germany, and it was fairly easwy
for the Syrians to pick him out of the emmbas-
sy crowd in Damascus.™

It was hardly a surprise, then, that Buckley
was soon burned again, rthis vime by the
Syrian government. His almost too-easy iden-
tification with the Agency prompred a quick
but temporary recall to Washington. He was
happy to be out of Syria, but angered that
he’d been unable to provide the informa-
tion that the cia needed. He remrned o
Langley convinced that his Syrian experi-
ence meant thar he’d spend the rest of his
career in Washingron. It was just oo dan-
gerous o send him overseas.
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Much o his surprise, howewver, in mid 1979
Buckley was dispatched to Cairo, where he
assisted in the training of Anwar Sadarts
bodyguards. In the wake of the Camp David
Accords, the United Staves had promised
some $4 billion in military and internal secu-
ricy assistance to Egypt, most of it to be
provided in the way of training by U.S. Pen-
tagon subcontractors. The deal-was a bar-
gain: in exchange for the money the United
States gained a secure ally in the Middle
East, and Israel was no longer threartened by
a rwo-front war.

At least part of the reason for Buckley’'s
acquiescence to the Cia’s decision to send
him o Cairo had to do with his sense of per-
sonal loyalty. Loyalry was a prized commodity
at the Agency, perhaps the only thing that
could™ve made Buckley work in a part of the
world where he'd been identified as a 1A assec

Buckley’s time in Cairo was short-lived. A
sudden, peremptory order from Langley cut
off his assignment in Egypt only months after
he’d arrived. The CiA told him that he was
neceded in Pakistan, where the U.S. consul-
ate had security difficulties. Such sudden
changes in assignments were happening to
Agency employees throughout the Middle
East; the ClA was running into trouble across
the Moslem rim, and it needed experienced
operatives to shore up its embattled stations.

In September 1979 Buckley reported ro
the CIA’s station in Islamabad, a city that
was being buffeted by the fallour from Iram's
Islamic revolution. The assignment tarned
out to be a nighomare.

“Pakistan was a goddammned mess.”
mer ClA contract employee says. “The whole
damned Arab world was coming down
around our ears. The shah was out, the Saudi
royal family was fearing for its life, Afghani-
stan was a disaster, Iraq hated our gurs,
Lebanon was being torn to shreds. We
thought it was all over, thart they were going
o kick us out on our asses.”™

They almost did. On WNovember 4, 1979
America’s embassy personnel in Iran were
taken hostage and paraded blindfolded
through the streets of Tehran. The ayatollah
called the United States “the great Satan,”
and US. agents, who'd been identified in
the files kcpt by the shah's secret pulice,
were running for their lives.

A litrle more than rwo weeks larter, on
MNovember 20, 1979, a group of Islamic
fundamentalists ook ower Islam™ holiest
shrime in Mecca. “Ar fbrse, it looked like a
full-fledged revolurion in Saudi A:rabia," a

a for-
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Cla analyst repores. “They were taking us apart
—first the shah, and now the royal family.”

American trainers, including some of
Buckley’s best friends, led the Saudi Nation-
al Guard in an operation against the well-
armed fundamentalists. For 24 hours Saudi
soldiers exchanged gunfire with them. The
crisis was made worse by the royal family’s
insistence that Americans NMot accormMpany
Saudi ooops inside the shrine. Though Amer-
ican Special Forces advisers told the Saudis
that their decision would result in a blood-
bath, the royal family's wishes were followed.
The operatiomn resulted in a paroxysm of
brutal hand-ro-hand combat, but within 72
hours the undamentalists had been sub-
dued. The Saudi National Guard, trained by
paramilitary experts that had heen hired
under a Pentagon contract with Vinnell Cor-
poration, one of Washingrom’s beltway ban-
dirs, had done its job with vicious precision.

From his desk at the U.S. consulate in
Islamabad. Buckley watched the evenus in
Saudi Arabia with growing concern. Paki-
stan’s fundamentalists, who were willing
believers of Iranian reports that the attack
on Mecca was a ClA operation, were restive.
The day after the Mecca takeover, Buckley
had a taste of just how dangerows the situa-
tion in the MNear East had become. As a
crowd of chanting Pakistanis jeered from
the street, U.S. employees were ushered into
the embassy’s wvault. The crowd began to
storm the outer gates and climmb the high
wire fence that surrounded the compound.
The marines couldn hold them off. In a
rush of zeal the American office was taken
and its files set ablaze. The embassy’s employ-
ees made their escape through a trap door
and onwo the rootf. Like other agents of the
CIA’s station in Islamabad, Buckley evaded
the Pakistani army, which had been sent to
lift the siege. and made his way o the Brit-
ish consulate across the city. In 24 hours he
was spirited out of the country.

ACCORDING TO LATER REPORTS. BUCK-
ley was “protected™ by the Agency, which as-
signed him o a low-profile position in Mexico
Cicy as an executive of Pemex Corporation,
the Mexican government-owned petroleumm
company. Iwo independent sources confirm
Buckley’s tenure with the company, and yet
Buckley’s closest friends say that he never spent
any ome with Pemex—or at least he never
mlked abourt it. Regardless of whether Buckley
was given a job in Mexico or not, he was told
that he'd have vo stay out of the Middle East.
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No later than early 1980 Buckley returned
to Langley to help the Carter administra-
rion plan its military mission to rescue the
American hostages in Tehran His assign-
ment was to monitor the rescue operation,
o represent the Cla’s interests at the Penta-
gon, and o adwvise the Joint Chiefs of Scaff
on the operation’s chance of success.
Buckley immediately felt at ease with the
Jcs officers, a group of Special Forces veter-
ans and Vietnam hands who underswood
his sense of urgency. Operartion Eagle Claw
was to be the JCS's claim o history, indis-
putable evidence that thie United States would
strike back when its citizens were in dan-
ger. But Buckley was skeprtical; while he
participated in most of the meetings on the
rescue operation, he criricized the plan as be-
ing vulnerable to technical failure and full of
operational danger. Buckley turned out to
be right—Eagle Claw failed for just the rea-
sons he mentioned —but that was no conso-
lation.
burning helicopters plastered on the nation’s
television screens, Buckley decided to accept
the cia’s offer to become part of a new team
of special operations experts that was being
purt together by the Joint Chiefs of Staftf.
According to the jos's plan, the services’
separate special operarions groups were to
be molded into one unit that would be based
in Fayetteville. In early 1981 Buckley was
assigned to conduct this new unit's train-
ing. In addition, he served as the CiA’s liaison
to a secret army intelligence group that was
later identified as the Intelligence Support
Activity, a hybrid covert intelligence unit
thatr was established o be an extension of
the army’s special operations capability.
Buckley had been idenrified in Wietnam,
in East Germany, in Syria, and almost cer-
ainly in Pakistan. The Agency had no plans
o make him even more vulnerable by send-
ing him back to the volatile Middle East, at
least for the time being. But he remained a
valued asset, even more so in the Reagan
administration. He divided his rime between
Fayetteville and Washingron, between train-
ing the military’s new antiterrorist team and
reorganizing the ClA’s counterterrorism office.
During one of his trips to Fayetweville
Buckley became romantically involved with
Candace Hammond, a landscape architect who
now lives in Farmer, North Carolina. “1 thought
he was very handsome and very much a gentle-
man,” says Hammond. “T can't remember a tme
when he didn't open a door for me, when he
wasn't mannered. That's the way he was_

In its aftermath, with pictuares of
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“Mhy, I can see him now, sitting in the
rocking chair thar he loved so well.,” adds
Hammond, who says that she was complets-
Iy unaware of Buckley’s secret identity. “Hs
would sit there for hours. He was so polis-
cal, you know. 1 could never talk when the
news was on; he’d go crazy. He'd laugh abows
it, about the news, because he was so con-
servative. And he really was; he said that ke
was just to the right of Attila the Hun. He
said it all the time, and he'd laugh. ™

IN EARLY 1981 BUCKLEY WAS CALLED
back to Langley by none other than Cases
who'd maken o reading the Agency’s per
sonnel files. When Casey, who'd served iz
the intelligence services during World Was
11, ran across Buckley’s name, he asked to b=
introduced to him. The two ClA hands goc
on well. As their friendship deepened, Case~
often turned to Buckley for adwvice on how
the Agency should respond o threats agains:
its inrelligence operations.

Buckley’s friendship with Casey began
pay dividends almost immediavely. Withis
weeks of their meeting, Buckley becamms
Casey’'s special adviser, accompanying hir=
on a series of overseas inspections. In Aprz
1981 Casey and Buckley wmraveled wo ths
Middle East, where thiey met with the heac
of the ClA’s operations in Saudi Arabia.
was a heady tour; after years of loyal bu
obscure service, Buckley was at the righs
hand of the C1A’s vop officer.

Still, this wasn't exacthy the kind of power
thart Buckley wanved. The Buckley-Case
rour of Saudi Arabia brought back memo-
ries, and Buckley told Casey that he'd like
be back in operations. In particular, Buckley =
closest friends report, Buckley wold Cases
that he thought he had some unfinishec
business in Cairo, where the United States
was still providing training o Sadars per-
sonal security force.

“He was always a field guy,” a C1A source
says. “The officialdom of the Agency go=
him down. He was always clauswtrophobic -

Casey grudgingly acceded to Bucklew =
request, and Buckley rermurned to Cairo is

June 1981.

BUCKLEY'S STAY IN EGYPT WAS A RESPITE
from his usual CrAa durties. In a different time
his months in Cairo might well have beer
considered the epitome of a man’s life. These
were new days for the cia in Egypt. US
citizens were granted unprecedented access
to the upper reaches of a Moslem counmTrs
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Sadat loved Americans; he affected VWest-
ern atritudes and styles, and he believed
thar Egypt could gain entrance to the mod-
ern era only by tying its furare o that of the
United States. His nadon needed o be mod-
ernized, and for that it needed peace. Buckley
and his team of American trainers enjoyed
the fruit of this new political philosophy.

“It was an open city,” says a former spe-
cial operations trainer. “It wasn't like ary-
where else back then in the whole Moslem
world. Egypt was isolated, you know, the
only friend on the other side of things that
Israel had. Money was pouring into the couan-
try. Americans were treated like kings.”™

Once again, however, Buckley sounded
an alarm. Within weeks of his arrival he
reported that Sadat was in greater danger
than he or anyone in the United States had
believed. Using his experiences in Pakistan
as a model, he told his colleagues that Sadat
acrually had little control over the course of
events in his country. Egypt. Buckley insisted,
was about to explode, the fuse sparked by
the fires of Iran's 1979 revolution. To Buckley,
it seemed as if an explosion was inevitable:
the nightmare that had awakened him in
Damascus and that had stalked him in Islam-
abad had reared its ugly head in Cairo. And
on a sultry October aftermoon in 1981, a
group of Islamic revolutionaries jumped from
their troop carriers during an official mili-
tary parade and gunned down the man awhom
Buckley was sent o protect.

“It wwas just another fuck-ap.” says a ClA
Middle East analyst.

Buckley's report on the assassination was
highly critical of the United States’ inability
to protect an ally. Buckley made enemies
with his paper, for he argued that providing
protection for America’s friends would nev-
er be enough; the problems in the Middle
EFast and in the emerging nations of the
Third World, he argued. had to be attacked
on all fronts. When he returned o Langley
60 days afrer the incident, he reported di-
rectly to Casey and reviewed the events that
had led to Sadat’s assassination.

THIS TIME BUCKLEY'S STAY AT LANGLEY
was ewven shorrver than his prewvious one.
Just seven years short of retirement, his
friendship with Casey sealed by their com-
mon mistrust of the Agency’s enmrenched
bureauc and the horror of America’s
failure in Cairo, Casey asked Buckley if he
would report on the CiA’s activities in Leba-
non. Casey couched his order as a question,

TacCy

s

orer

ofrprortirnity
Sfor

growwiti

ceracd

aduvaricerment
rre

@

tecrn - oriertted
ernuvirortrriert it
“«

reasor

for

FJoErn

Signet

Barnk ?

lllllll'll.l.llllllii..lll'!!llllilllil

Onmn opportunity...

PRIVATE
o BANKING

an $11 billion hig-
performance banking institution, is seeking seif-
starting, people - oriented Private Bankers to fill_newly
created positions due to the rapid growth of our Privats

Banking Program in the Washington, D.C. and Balt-
more Areas.

These highly wisible and challenging positions wwilll e
responsible for the origimnatiorn of quality loans, gener=
tion of transactional and investment accounts, alomg
with trust and other fee -based services.

The successful candidates will have a minimum o
3 years' proven experience in business dewvelopment
strong credit analysis skills, and the ability to successiully
interact with senior level management. Familiarity witk
the respective geographic areas essential.

Qualified candidates interested in learmning more abow
this exciting position should call, in confidence, ({ 80<=
751 - 1256, or send a detailed resume with salary histor
to: Signet Bankin Corporation, Managemen
Recruitment, Dept. PBR2-89, P.O. Box 25970, Richrmomd
WA 23260.

An equal opportunity employer

SIGN\NET BANVNK

Sroree

HELLER

(301) 654-0218

ENTERTAIN IIN STYLE
WITH STERLIING SILVER

5454 WISCONSIIN AVENLIE
CHEVY CHASE, MDD 20815

(NATHANS

Fire Food &C Spirits

3150 M Street, NW., Georgetoswwm
Washington, DC 20007
338-2000




T

as a tentative, personal request. There were
dangers involved, Casey admitted. bur he
needed someone he could trust o do the
job, and Buckley was really the only one.

Hesitantly, Buckley vielded to the request,
though he knew that Casey was acting well
outside normal ClA procedures. The Com-
pany’s internal rules say that an agent who's
been identified in one part of the world has
to take another assignment for at least Fwve
vears before he returns. In addition, a senior
team has to review the assignment and assess
its danger.

In fact, Casey had litde choice when he
selected Buckley; the Cla’s intelligence agents
throughour the Near East had been identi-
fied wwhen rthe 1L1.S. embassies in Tripoli,
Islamabad, and Tehran were taken over. Even
it Casey had looked around for someone
else o take the assignment, he wouldn't
have found anyone. The cia’s best agents
were running for their lives, and precious
few had gotten ourt alive.

Casey was desperate; he was sure he could
rely on Buckley, that his request would hawve
an impact. Buckley had always agreed o
such “requests™ in the past; he knew an
order when he heard one.

AT THE END OF AUGUST 1982 BUCKLEY
stood in a crowd of marines ar Beirut's water-
front watching the PLO’s militias depart from
the city. The PLO hghters, who'd met the
Israelis in combart, waved their weapons in
the air and shot off the last of their ammuni-
tion in a celebration of their victory. What
was left of Beirut had been turned to rubble.
In a last-ditch effort to stave off a house-to-
house battle, President Reagan had dis-
patched U.S. forces o guarantee the safery
of the Palestinian civilians who remained in
the city; Buckley was on hand as an observ-
er and a trainer for the small Lebanese armed
forces. For weeks he’d planned the PLO's
withdrawal, negotiating a series of agree-
ments with Beirur's welter of militias. Now,
wirth his plan nearly completed, he wondered
whether the CLa would play it safe and order
him back to Langley. For several weeks he'd
felt that his cover had been blown. With his
Western dress, his rugged American looks,
and his plain suits, he “had ciAa written all
owver him.” according to one American.
When the marines lefit Beirut in Seprtem-
ber 1982, Buckley went with them. He
remurned o Washingron, where Casey told
himm that he’d next be responsible for coor-
dimamng rhe Reagan administration™s anti-
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terrorism policy. The job was a reward for his
wvears in the field: for the first time in his career,
he’d be respomnsible for a Cia policy. Casey
told Buckley that he'd be the policy’s chief
architect and would report to the direcror of
central intelligence through the head of whar
was then called the Domestic Terrorism Group.

For six months Buckley and government
officials hammered ourt a policy. The Agency
would be responsible solely for foreign intel-
ligence, he insisted, leaving domestic secu-
rity in the hands of the FBi.

“It was a delicate job,” a former ClLa ana-
lyst says. “Buckley not only had to come up
with a policy that everyone could agree to,
he had te make sure it would work. He
offended some people, but 1 think he was
right. VWhen the Federal Emergency Manage-
ment Administraton and some of those others
thought they should have a piece of the
counterterrorism pie, he told them, ‘INo way.
You're going to have nothing to do with i’
You know, he told them to go to hell.”

Afrter months of work, Buckley presented
his counrerterrorism plan o Casey. It includ-
ed a recommendation that the Domestic
Terrorism Group change its mame to the
Intermational Antiterrorismm Group. The name
change was significant: Buckley was signaling,
his concern thart the cCia could be accused of
domestic spying, which had caused trouble
in the 1970s. Buckley’s plan called for a co-
ordinated effort to combat securicy breaches
under the leadership of the MNational Security
Council’s director, whao'd be in charge of rmoni-
toring rhe agencies thar were responsible for
domestic law enforcement. According to a
government securiry official, Buckley's rec-
ommendartions were “straight dowmn the mid-
dle. There was nothing really creative about
what he said. He just made it clear thart all of
these people who wanted to have something
to do with it were better off wartching their
own shops. He called them “those crazies.” ™

Despite Buckley’'s concern that the cia
assiduously follow his plan®s mandates, many
of his recommendations were later wealk-
ened. Acording to a number of Penuagon
officials, thhe Domesrtic Terrorism Group lat-
er became part of a secret Pentagon intelli-
gence unit thar was rhen coming under
scrutiny, the Intelligence Support Activity.
Buckley had been part of the Intelligence
Support Acrtivity during the planning for
the hostage rescue operation in 1979, It ran
intelligence operations in Libya and partici-
pated in the rescue of General James Dozier,
who'd been kidnapped by ltaly’s Red Bri-

gade. Buckley watched the slow disinutegra-
tion of his plan with fruswration; it was more
proof thart the best intentions can be undone
by a hellish bureaucracy.

Despite these frustrations, Buckley fin-
ished his special assignment with a sense of
relief; he had only a few years left until
retirement. But his relief was short-lived
In March 1983 an Islamic terrorist detonat-
ed an explosive outside the U.S. embassy in
Beirut It was perhaps the most serious breach
of security in the ClA’s history. Sixteen Ameri-
cans were killed, including the Agency’s MNear
East Division chief, Robert Ames. Ames,
who'd been sent to Lebanon for a meeting
with Agency operatives, had been in the
country for only 24 hours. The photographs
of the collapsed embassy sent shudders
through the operations directorate art Langley

“WWe were ripped apart over there,” sayvs a
retired Agency official who spent his career
at Langley. “They ook us out in Iran, got all
those files. We had embassies on fire every-
where. It makes sense that they would get
our files. But Ames was a loss. Hell, no one
wanted to be there. It was a major disaster.™

In June, Casey told Buckley that he wanted
him back in Lebanon, this time as the CLA’s
station chiefin Beirut. Beck, who served with
Buckley on rthis assignment, remembers
Buckley’s reaction. “He knew his duty,” Beck
says. “Things were rough. but he knew the
dangers. He never shied away from anything.™

The situation in Lebanon had become far
worse than it was during Buckley’s firstc
assignment. Shackley believes that Buckley
knew he was in an extremely wvulnerable
position. “Anyone in that part of the world
has to know he’s a targetr,” Shackley sawvs.
“I'm sure Bill did. You know, it’s like playing
Russian roulette.”

BUCKLEY CULTIVATED INFORMANTS IMN
an arttempt to get information about Beirut's
disparate political factions. His job once again
meant that he’d evenrtually be burned by
some of our nation’s fiercest enemies.

The years hadnt eroded Buckleyv’'s fear-
lessness. In the midst of a firefight, Beck
says, Buckley stepped inro the street and
demanded that the combatants lay down
their weapons.

“Ijust couldn’t believe it,” Beck says. “Every-
one stopped shooting and just looked at
him. He stood there for a while, then went
into a mnearby café, where he was meetuing a
miliria leader He looked art this guy arnd
said, ‘Now thats more like it ™
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Omne night Buckley and Beck were caught
m an artillery barrage. After years of experi-
ence in the field, Buckley was unfazed. “We
were in the middle of Beirut, and suddenly
everything started going off,” Beck remem-
bers. “We were on our haunches up against
some buildings, and Bill got hungry. So right
in the middle of this artillery barrage he
went next door, to a café called the George
Washington, believe it or nort, and got some
food. He had no idea what it was. He came
back and looked at me, shrugged his shoul-
ders, and said, ‘'l just love to eat wet dog.” ™

Buckley's best efforts to come up with
mformartion weren't enough; America’s posi-
tion in Lebanon was deteriorating rapidly.
In a frenzy of acrivity, Buckley redoubled
his efforts to infilurate the Iranian-backed
Islamic gangs that had sprung up in the city,
but he was frustrated in his attempits. It was
no longer merely a matter of getrting good
inmformation: Buckley wwas responsible for
making certain that the U.5. Marine peace-
keeping force at Beirut's airport stayed out
of danger.

In September 1983, according to a retired
Penrtagon intelligence official. Buckley was
rold that the Islamic Jihad, the most notori-
ous revolutionary group in Beirut, was plan-
ning a major operation against the United
States. But Buckley couldnt figure our the
narare of the operarion or who would be purt
at risk by it. Since the marines were protect-
ed, Buckley attemprted to discover what other
target the Jihad had in mind. “It could hawve
been anyone,” the Pentagon official says.
“You never knew what was going to happen.™

The report of a pending anti-American
incident lay dormant for weeks. Buckley
met with the commander of the marine unit
o warmn him of a possible attack. “Bill shared
everything he knew with him.” says Beck.
“Every report he got he passed right on.™

Noel Koch, a rertired Pentagon official, also
gave warnings to the marines. “We went
out there and ralked to some of these heawy
breathers with the Lebanese armed forces
and inspected the [marine] barracks,” Koch
says. “We warned them. VWe went o [the
marine commander] and said, ‘Hey, yvou've
got some problems here.” You know what
he said? He said, ‘Don’t tell us how to suck
egegs. The marines know how to suck eggs
better than anyone in the world.” ™

On the morning of October 23, 1983
the marines in Beirut sucked eggs for the
last time. In one of the corps’ most shar-
tering military disasters, 241 U.S. service-
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men died in what the FB1 would later call
“the largest nonnuclear explosion in his-
rory.” Buckley had found his rerrorist opera-
tion. Looking ourt from his aparoment, which
had been rocked by the blast, he watched
in disbelief as a large black cloud rose
owver Beirut.

Through the winter Buckley stoically
artempted o put the pieces back together in
Lebanon. More obsessive than ever, he took
chances that he’d never taken before. He
called on an untapped physical reserwve,
calming the Agency’s fears and sending
back terse reports of his progress in Leba-
non. His mask wasn’t hopeless, but it was
clear from his cables that the U.S. position
in the Middle East was at its nadir. He strug-
gled to repair the damage, and in fits and
starts he won small victories where none
had seemed possible.

And then suddenly, one morning, he was
gone.

BUCKLEY HAD BEEMN A CAPTAIN IN SOME
of America’s most secret wars. For three
decades, on three conrtinents, he'd served
his country with unfailing loyalty and with-
out guestion. But in thart time he’d remained
unaware of the most covert war of all: the
war that was being fought inside the cia
itself. It was a war that would eventually
decide his fate.

Within hours of Buckley’s kidnapping,
Casey had spit out his orders: find Buckley
and find him fast. He'd pounded his desk
when he’d said it, fairly leaping out from
behind it. Yet it appears that nobody in the
world’s most renowned intelligence organi-
zarion knew where o look.

The ciaA’s search for Buckley has be-
come the souff of controversy. Clair George,
the Agency’s deputy direcrtor of opera-
rions, told a reportver that he’d turned the
operations directorate upside down look-
ing for Buckley. Some of Buckley’s col-
leagues scoff at the claim. Clair George is
probably right, they say, he probably did
murn the operations direcrorate upside dowmn.
But Buckley wasn't anywhere near it. He
was in Beirut.

What steps the CiA ook to find Buckley
accomplished little. A special committee was
set up to monitor the search. The National
Security Agency was asked to provide high-
resolution photographs of probable hos-
tage hideours in Beirut. Intelligence reports
from the Middle East were scoured and
scoured again. Finally, the Agency dispatched
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an FBl team to Beirut, then an army intell:-
gence team. Both units went into Beirurs
destroyed neighborhoods to poke here anc
there for a trace of Buckley.

But there isn’t a hint thar the Agencs
launched irs own teams of operatives o
turn Beirut upside down. Casey may have
been desperare, but he was apparenti:
unable o mowve the Agency to take extra-
ordinary steps o find its own kidnappec
station chief.

Those who served with Buckley and knew
him best are adamant: the Agency did little
or nothing to gain his release, and not simpl
because of bureaucratic inefficiency. Their=
is something more than mere barroom talk
and not much less than flat-out allegarions=
of betrayal. Buckley was hated by a numbes
of important covert action operators, the:
contend, and had made enough enemies
ensure that when he needed help they'd dc
not quite everything they could to find hirm
The tables had been turned; the man who'c
stacked rthe coins on his desk in Saigon
who'd thumbed his nose at the bureaucrars
had had the nighrmare loosed on him. The
irony is horrifying: after years of being
accused of working outside the law, the Ci1~
played according o the rules.

“He wasn't liked. He wasn't liked at all.~
a CiAa contract employee says. “Do I need
o spell it our? There were people who
hated him at the cia, who were glad tha:
he went to Beirut. Why the hell would ches
look for him?™

To understand the ciaA’s bewrayal,
Buckley’s friends, it's essenrtial to understand
the Cia. The Agency. they say, ismt a fra-
rernity of like-minded, dedicared profession-
als bent on fighting the communist scourge
The Cla is a bureaucracy like any other
with its own petty hartreds, office politics
and banal complaints. The coffee goes un-
made, desks mneed to be repaired, some
employees get uppity. Buckley was one of
them.

In the end, a number of events came togeth-
er to seal Buckley's fate. All had to do with
his personality, for he’d compiled a nearl
unrivaled record of achievement in his career
He had., after all, accomplished wwhar few
ClAa operatives dream of. He'd been burned
in a handful of countries, and he’d gotten
away with it. In Viemam he’d been a top-
notch combat operative, a brave, nearly reck-
less agent in an insane dance with death.
and he’'d gotren away with it. He'd been sent
to the Middle East as an expert when he
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wasn't one, and he’d gortren away with it
Finally, he’d been befriended by the most
powerful cia agent of all, William Casey, a
fact thhat had made his colleagues (and
bureaucratic compertitors) in the covert action
branch green with envy. They thought he
was one of them, that he didn’t belong in the
jet stream. For some of them, it was almost
oo much to bear.

A friend of Buckley’s gives a final judg-
ment. “It’s the perfect out,” he says. “We can’'t
tell you what we did to get him back because
it’'s a secret. Like ‘Mission Impossible the
Agency disavowed any knowledge of his
activities. If they'd looked for him, then every-
one would have known he was an agent.
Stupid bastards.™

Ir's hard o miss the bitterness in the words
of those who believe Buckley was left out in
the cold. For too many years, they say, he'd
old others that their careers came before
anything, that their work was the work of
the nation, that their sacrifices weren't only
necessary but expecrted. He'd rold it to them
in simple terms: do your work, do it well,
obey the rules, and, abowve all, understand
thar the grartitude you receive will come
from your knowledge that you've paid the
ulrimare price in silence. He'd said it in Viet-
nam when he’d run the PRU teams and de-
manded the impossible from his associates.
Death is part of the job.

MNow it was his tarn.

EVENTUALLY BUCKLEY'S CLOSEST FRIENDS
ourside the Agency ook steps to get him
back. In a series of meetings held in Ham-
burg, West Germany in November 1984,
Shackley, now rerired from the C1A, assessed
the possibility of striking a deal with the
Iranian gowvernment for Buckley’s reourn.
Shackley met with Ghorbanifar in Ham-
burg at the suggestrion of a former official of
the shah’s secrer police, Manucher Hashemrmi.
Ghorbanifar told Shackley that the Iranians
would be willing ro trade Russian military
equipment that had been caprured in their
war with Iraq in exchange for Buckley. Afrer
three days of meetings, Shackley returned
to the United States.

“Thart's when I wrote a memo o the State
Departument,” Shackley says. “1 knew Buckley
professionally in Vietnam. I had great admi-
ration for him. I sent the memo o the State
Deparrment, and thar was the end of ic.™

The State Deparunent rejected Ghorban-
ifar’'s offer of a swraight arms-for-Buckley
swap because it believed, with justification,
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that Ghorbanifar was "only interested in
money and that his reputarion as an un-
rusrworthy source made his claims sus-
pect” Still, thie wheels had tarned ever so
slowly: Shackley had sent his memo to
WVernon Walters, an ambassador-at-large;
Walters had passed it on o Hugh Mont-
gomery, the Stare Department’s direcrtor of
intelligence and research; Montgomery had
given it to Robert Qakley, the State Depart-
ment official who’'s in charge of counter-
terrorism; Oakley had taken it to Richard
Murphy, the assistant secretary of stare for
Near Eastern affairs. Oakley and Murphy
had then given Shackley their answer: the
deal was a “scam.”

The Islamic Jihad was mmuch less bureau-
cratic. Afrer spiriting Buckley out of Beirurt,
it held him at the Abdullah barracks, its
headquarters in the Bekaa walley, then
shipped him to Syria for serious interroga-
tion. Buckley was repeatedly tormured, and
finally he broke under the pain. A June
1987 report says thar he gave his captors “a
wvirtually complete list of U.S. agents in the
Middle East.™

Buckley, his health derteriorarting, was
returned to the Bekaa valley in the spring of
1985. Fearful that he'd die, his guards request-
ed thart he be given medical care in Tehran.
He was flown to Tehran from Damascus in
early June 1985. He died soon after.

Agency officials knew of Buckley's death
by June 1985, yet they held out hope that he
might somehow turn up alive. They feared
thart the 400-page “confession” that had been
wrung from him would end up in Soviet
hands; they took steps to get their own copy
of it. Ar least part of the reason that Robert
McFarlane, Oliver North, and others traw-
eled o Tehran in May 1986 was to get
Buckley’'s testimony and to bring his body
back o Washingron. But the mission was
only partially successful. The team failed to
retrieve Buckley's body, but it retrieved his
confession, either in the form of a docu-
ment or a video or both. c1a officials all but
confirm that Buckley’s testitmony as well as
recordings and a videotape of his session
with his Hezbollah tortuarers were handed
owver to the United Starves in Tehran or soon
thereafter.

Epilogue
PERHAPS ONE DAY THE REAL STORY OF

the C1A’s rescue attempt will be made public. As
things stand now, there are many villains in the
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Buckley story and many unanswered guestons.

Or maybe the answer to the riddle is sim-
ple. Perhaps the disease that afflicts every
other government deparvment has finally
infecred the CiA. Perhaps the Agency is incom-
petent. There's a hint of this point of wview
on the public record: It's not that the Agemn-
cy doesn’'t want o run covert operations,
Richard Secord told the Senate committee
that investigated the Iran-contra affair, it’s
that it doesm't know how o. And Casey
often complained that the Agency had lost
its rone, thart it had become fat and happy.
He vowed o reinwvigorate it or find a way to
run operations some other way.

Buckley had wimessed bureaucratc incorm-
petence and rebelled against it. Casey saw
this rough-hewn individualism in Buckley
and rewarded him for it. He felt that Buckley
understood the nature of the Agency’s prob-
lems. Casey undoubtedly knew that Buckley
was a victimm of the Agency’s paralysis; why
else would he have decided to trust Oliver
MNorth and the MNsaA o retrieve Buckley and
not the CiA’s covert action staff? When
MNorth's attempt failed, Casey was sickened
by the horror of it all.

Casey was given final proof of this failure
in the form of the videotape of Buckley's
orture and confession. The head of the C1A
wept openly, then delivered the tape to Ron-
ald Reagan. On an unusually humid night
in June 1986, the head of the U.S. Central
Intelligence Agency and the president of
the United Starves played back the videotape
at the White House. It was almost too much
for either of them to bear. They wviewed it
with the fervent hope that Buckley had not
suffered oo much, that in his dying moments
he’d somehow been given some forlorn com-
fort. Reagan was stunned by what he saw.
Casey was enraged.

MNo one knows now what vow Casey made
that night, nor what retribution, if any, he
planned. But this we know: the friends of
Wwilliam Buckley believe thiaat Casey is a hero,
a man who has been roo often maligned and
oo easily misundersrood. For those who
honored Buckley during a simple ceremo-
ny on a hillside in Arlingron National Cemnn-
erery, William Casey was part of a dream: a
dream that the Agency could be mastered,
controlled, and made to work, thart it could
become a truer defender of the nation than
it had ever been.

In the final analysis, this had been William
Casey’s finest dream —and William Buckley’s
only hope. =
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